**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Circuit Court**

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000476

Case No. 2012-CP-23-02887

RECEIVED

JUN 22 2016

SC Court of Appeals

David Wilson, individually and derivatively on behalf of Carolina Custom Converting, LLC,
Plaintiff,

v.

John Gandis, Andrea Comeau-Shirley, Zoi Films, LLC, and Carolina Custom Converting,
LLC, Defendants,

John Gandis and Andrea Comeau-Shirley, Third-Party Plaintiffs,

v.

Carolina Custom Converting, LLC, Third-Party Defendant and Counterclaim Plaintiff,

v.

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Circuit Court Erred By Failing to Apply the Correct Legal Standard for Fiduciary Duty Among Partners and LLC Members of Full and Honest Disclosure of Side Deals and Competitive Activity That Should Have Been Business of the Company?
2. Whether the Circuit Court Erred in Disregarding Fundamental Business Operations and Principles and Instead Focused on The Personal Financial Situation of Wilson to Find that Wilson Was an Oppressed Shareholder?
3. Whether the Circuit Court Erred by Failing to Dissolve the Company, Failed to Order the Company to Purchase the Shares, and Ordered Individual Members, One of Which Was a Non-Voting Member, to Purchase the Shares of Wilson at a Valuation Date Prior to Wilson Removing Substantial Value from the Company?
4. Whether the Circuit Court Erred in Fashioning Equitable Relief for Wilson When Wilson Had Unclean Hands?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case spawned from the establishment, management and eventual unraveling of Carolina Custom Converting, LLC (CCC), a company engaged in the plastic film business owned by three members – Defendants/Appellants John Gandis (45%); and Andrea Comeau-Shirley (Shirley) (10%) and Plaintiff/Respondent David Wilson (45%). Wilson filed an action alleging (1) shareholder oppression by Gandis and Shirley; (2) Gandis breached his fiduciary duty to CCC and Wilson; (3) Gandis and Shirley converted company funds and property; (4) seeking dissolution of CCC, or alternatively, disassociation. Gandis and Shirley answered and counterclaimed for Wilson's breach of

his fiduciary duties to CCC and its members. A bench trial was held September 30 - October 3, 2014 before the Honorable D. Garrison Hill.

On January 9, 2015 the trial court entered an Order finding that Gandis and Shirley “froze-out” and “oppressed” Wilson as the other member of CCC and ordered they individually buy-out Wilson’s interest for a total of \$347,863.23 pursuant to its claimed equitable powers under S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-810 (the “Order”). (R. pp. 1770-1789). The Order further found that: (1) the evidence at trial did not establish Wilson breached his fiduciary duty to Gandis or other members of CCC; (2) CCC failed to prove its trade secrets claim; (3) the evidence demonstrated that Neologic/Freshwater used CCC’s confidential information and therefore the company’s trade secrets claim was justified; (4) CCC failed to provide sufficient evidence in support of its civil conspiracy claims; (5) neither party proved their conversion cases; and (6) Wilson was not entitled to prejudgment interest. Appellants filed a Rule 59 Motion on January 20, 2015 asking the trial court reconsider the date for valuation of Wilson’s interest or give weight to the valuation when Gandis and Shirley agreed to sell their interest to Wilson during December 2011 and January 2012; its ruling requiring Gandis and Shirley personally buy-out Wilson’s membership interest; its conclusion that Wilson fully disclosed the existence and substance of disputed accounts and its application of the law respecting the South Carolina Trade Secrets Act. (R. pp. 1814-1924). The circuit court denied that motion by Order dated January 28, 2015. (R. pp. 1794-1796). This appeal followed.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS¹

A. The Deal

After VyTech's bankruptcy, Gandis' wife gave him the go ahead to cash in his 401(k) to support his family and pursue entrepreneurship.² (R. p. 19, ln. 22 – p. 20, ln. 1). Gandis sold his metal working assets and set out to make CCC a viable entity; living off his 401(k). Wilson, on the other hand, was supporting his family through his EFS work. Without other sources of income or available credit, Wilson requested initial income security at the outset of this new deal. He requested that if he rolled EFS into CCC, that he would initially receive a monthly income to replace his EFS income. (R. p. 55, ln. 6-10). This issue presented an obstacle to creating the combined company.

The men discussed their draft operating agreement and had several questions to explore. Gandis arranged for them to meet with Shirley (an accountant and trusted business advisor to his father) in early 2008. During this lengthy meeting the men discussed their plans and for expansion, management, and operating in the film industry. From late May to early July 2008, Gandis and Wilson exchanged e-mail correspondence dealing with this issue and others. Wilson believed that he could roll EFS into CCC, and still achieve income security by holding back three supplier relationships. (R. p. 45, ln. 3-17). This was his first pitch to Gandis. Gandis consulted with Shirley regarding this initial proposal. She did not like the idea because it did not sound like a partnership and Wilson could not adequately explain how this exclusive supplier relationship would not eventually lead to

¹ Appellants reference and incorporate CCC's Statement of Facts into their brief and provide the additional facts within this section necessary for discussion of the legal issues pertinent to Gandis and Shirley.

² Gandis also pulled money out of a home equity line to provide CCC with initial working cash. (Def. 7).

him cherry-picking the most profitable orders by simply “selecting” these suppliers rather than the suppliers that CCC was using. More importantly as these were purportedly low-cost suppliers, this exclusivity would damage CCC’s potential. Accordingly, Gandis informed Wilson his initial proposal would not work. Ultimately Wilson’s idea to withhold three accounts was dropped, and in return, Gandis agreed that he would use his lines of credit to make sure that Wilson received monthly income in the startup phase. To that end, beginning in July of 2008, and in exchange for Wilson rolling all of his customers into CCC, Wilson started receiving \$8,000.00 per month from the company. (R. p. 78, ln. 8-14). CCC was up and running and Wilson was now to dedicate all his efforts to the company. The following are the contemporaneous e-mail discussions that describe these conversations and how this all played itself out.

On May 30, 2008, Gandis sent an e-mail to Shirley, who at the time had no ownership interest, regarding her attendance at a meeting between Gandis and Wilson the previous week. (R. pp. 980-89). It was later agreed that she would be compensated by receiving a “fixed equity interest” making her a member of CCC with a 10% interest. Gandis writes that, “Dave and I sat down on Tuesday – and had some great discussions on moving our business forward. Dave is in favor [*sic*] moving his accounts over into the CCC account column and collecting a salary for a period of time until we can really get things going.” (R. p. 982). He continues, “[w]e also discussed putting Dave on the payroll starting in July. I think we can handle the \$8000 that he pays himself. . . .” (R. p. 982). Later in that same e-mail, Gandis writes that there are “three accounts that Dave imports that do not currently go through CCC – we both think it best that these three accounts stay away from CCC. Dave agrees that all future orders (even if they are imports) should be

run through CCC.” (R. p. 982). Describing to Shirley what he was told by Wilson, Gandis writes that, “I do not know how much of his income is derived from these three accounts I mentioned – but again ... this is something you can help us with. Maybe CCC should not pay the salary portion that the three accounts cover.” (R. p. 982).

On June 2, 2008, Shirley responded attaching a worksheet to use in creating a partnership agreement advising Gandis to fill this form out based upon the conversation he and Wilson had in late May 2008: “I’d like to suggest that you complete the questionnaire alone (Although you are documenting the discussion you had with Dave). . . . Once you fill out the questionnaire (leaving open any items that you have not focused on – we’ll get them in the next round). Then send it to me and we can discuss the points together. I can help you think through the best case and worse case planning. . . .” (R. p. 981). Gandis filled out the partnership worksheet based upon his discussions with Wilson.

On June 16, 2008, as promised, Shirley provided her thoughts on the partnership worksheet so that she and Gandis could discuss before circling back up with Wilson. (R. pp. 990-99). The back and forth was set forth on Defendants’ Exhibit 7.³ (R. pp. 1677-83). Page five of the worksheet, paragraph e, addressed Wilson’s desire to retain three accounts separate from CCC. Gandis notes it “[n]eeds to be ...minus three.” (R. p. 1681). Shirley responds, “Everything in our industry...goes through LLC – first right of refusal on every single contract opportunity (new or old customers), and if we refuse, then he can pursue independently through [other] slitting business partners.” (R. p. 1681). In the same paragraph, Gandis sets forth his and Wilson’s late May 2008 discussion: “There are three accounts that Dave wants to retain something over ... maybe easier to discuss this over the

³ The blue ink represents Gandis’ recollection of the late May 2008 discussion with Wilson, and the green ink represents Shirley’s responsive advice.

phone.” (R. p. 1681). Shirley did not respond to that specific sub-paragraph, but it is apparent her response to paragraph e. covered it. Shirley’s June 16, 2008 e-mail also stated that she “[n]eed[ed] a list of every customer, with the old commission in whatever rate he used to charge and a year by year volume/sales figure.” (R. p. 990). She asked for this information in an effort to analyze the validity and feasibility of Wilson’s request for \$8k.

On June 24, 2008 Wilson responded to that request in an e-mail to Gandis with an attachment containing a listing of EFS customers (including the three he wanted to retain) and their purchasing volumes, but without an indication of either their contribution margin or his historical commissions as requested. (R. p. 1752-56). That same day, Gandis responded noting: “Good stuff. . . .What she said she wanted to get was a projection of what the EFS book of business was worth the last couple of years” (R. p. 1001). He continued: “If I understand what she is trying to do is assign a value (like equity) to the book of business to write into the agreement so that we are shown as 50/50 partners. My part is easy – dollars invested in equipment/hard assets... your[s] is a little more tricky since it is an intangible.... I think what she is looking for is a statement from EFS for the last two years – tax returns/customers – margins, etc.” (R. p. 1001). That same day, critically, and zeroing in on the question of what he was bringing to CCC in return for the proposed \$8k per month, Wilson made his final pitch: “The real question is this – are the customers, vendors and margins I am bringing to the table worth the salary we are proposing? *If I am to focus all my efforts in the film business on CCC, I am foregoing opportunities to earn money on those opportunities outside of CCC.*” (R. p. 1000)(*emphasis added*).

On July 1, 2008, CCC provided Wilson with an \$8,000.00 check, and it continued to do so during the entirety of its start-up phase. Looking back on this arrangement, on April 13, 2009, Wilson said this about the understanding: “The payments I received last year was basically a salary which I required since I was taking my customers from EFS and putting them in to CCC reducing my ability to earn a living.” (R. p. 1529). He went on, “[n]ow that the company is profitable and cash flow is better, we are both pulling out money each month which is in the form of a distribution.” (R. p. 1529).

Once the start-up phase passed, the company began to make money for its owners. In fact, CCC showed a profit from 2008-10. (R. p. 586, ln. 3-5). 2010 was a banner year for CCC based upon a world-wide film shortage. CCC was able to capitalize on the shortage because it was able to purchase large amounts of inventory. (R. p. 651, ln. 11-25). With inventory on-hand, CCC was able to serve a large number of customers (including other film convertors) that it did not previously service in 2008-09. (*See* R. p. 653, ln. 23-p. 654, ln. 1). In 2011, however, the company’s profitability ended when the market dipped precipitously. (R. p. 586, ln. 5; R. p. 1659). During its successful start-up years, CCC grew to roughly 24 employees. (R. p. 39, ln. 2-24).⁴ Although 2011 sales started out above budget, by mid-year the forecasted budget was significantly reduced. (R. p. 655, ln. 8-24). By the fall of 2011, Wilson told Comeau-Shirley that his forecast should be reduced to 10% of the projected budget. (R. p. 655, ln. 17-24).⁵

⁴ In 2011, CCC’s profitability ended and it posted a substantial loss that year. (R. p. 586, ln. 3-5). Specifically, CCC posted a loss of \$456,000 in 2011. (R. p. 245, ln. 8-15). The financial health of the company led to strife regarding the internal affairs of CCC and ultimately Wilson seeking employment elsewhere.

⁵ A: At some point he tells me to drop the sales to 10% of the number he had given me before.

Q: Drop by 10%?

B. The Banner Year Causes Internal Financial Stress

The banner year of 2010 resulted in a significant tax liability for the owners. Wilson testified that he owed roughly \$200k to the federal government. (R. p. 411, ln. 14-15). Wilson did not have the funds to pay this tax liability and neither did CCC. (R. p. 665, ln. 12-16). Wilson claimed that the tax issue was significant and sought assistance from Gandis. As a result of Wilson's financial strain, Gandis asked Shirley to develop a tax strategy that would allow Wilson to reduce or remove his tax liability. (R. p. 665, ln. 23 – p. 666, ln. 15). Gandis' efforts to help Wilson triggered tensions among the members that would end with Wilson leaving.

C. What Went Wrong: *Too Much Inventory*

In 2010 CCC had a banner year generating over \$1 million in net income. Wilson, as VP of sales and purchasing poured the vast majority of that cash back into purchasing film stock/inventory. As VP of sales and purchasing, Wilson alone bore the responsibility for both the film purchasing activities and sales; and liquidating film stocks to generate cash. (*see* R. p. 1532 at para. 4). Because Wilson invested the vast majority of the net profit into film stock and failed to make sales on it that meant that CCC did not have cash to distribute to its owners in 2011. This set the stage for Wilson's frustrated economic expectations and ultimately, his decision to leave the Company. The inventory issue, and the failure to turn it over, led to an impending tax scenario that would be the owners' and

A: No. Drop them to 10%.

Q: So he's asking you to revise the budget for the last half of the year - - that last third of the year, and drop the sales projection by 90%?

A: Yes. I was flabbergasted.

not CCC's responsibility.⁶ Thus Wilson himself created this tax liability. The resulting fallout of business to 10% of the budget in mid-year 2011 was the responsibility of Wilson and his failure to anticipate market changes.

By the end of 2010, Wilson built up the company's film stocks in excess of typical levels. (R. p. 145, ln. 22 - p. 146, ln. 1; *see e.g.* R. p. 1606 but not from 2010). As this matter impacted all the owners, the group met numerous times during 2011 to discuss inventory reduction planning. (R. pp. 1588-1606; R. p. 223, ln. 7-25). The owners had agreed to put a "tight clamp down on purchases" (R. p. 1588-89) meaning that each purchase should have a home. To demonstrate the magnitude of the issue created by the excess inventory levels, the company prepared various reports detailing film which has been purchased in prior year(s) which had yet to be converted to cash. (R. pp. 1590-1605). Stated simply, if these film purchases had been avoided through more careful planning by Wilson, that cash would have been available in the company for distributions. In fact, Wilson admits to this failure in execution in his discussions with the prospective buyers where he states "We need to address the purchasing/material planning function... When we had 30 customers and \$3,000,000 in sales, I could effectively do both sales and purchasing. Now that we have 100 customers, new products, and \$5,000,000 plus in sales, I have lost effectiveness." (R. p. 1662). Unfortunately, Wilson failed to execute the agreed-upon plan; this meant that CCC did not have sufficient cash for a tax distribution. (R. pp. 1763-

⁶ A LLC is taxed as a pass through entity, which means that its owners pay the income taxes on profits rather than the company. This is commonly referred to in the accounting world as "phantom income." For pass-through entities, phantom income is often synonymous with undistributed income. Phantom income is an accounting term given to taxable income reported to the Internal Revenue Service but not actually pocketed by the owner. It is called "phantom" because it does not generate cash flow that year, it only exists on paper, but the IRS expects tax revenue on business assets or investments. An example illustrates the point. On paper an LLC may have \$80k in distributable profit in a given year, but if it uses \$40k to purchase inventory the owner is still taxed on the full \$80k. The IRS expects the owner to pay taxes on \$80k.

69). This inventory issue and the resulting tax liability caused all members to experience significant phantom taxable income because their cash was tied up in inventory. Wilson already received preferred monthly cash distributions that caused CCC to be late in making payments to vendors. (R. p. 152, ln. 10-22). Wilson was already over \$100,000.00 ahead of Gandis in cash distributions, and Gandis had to borrow, in part from a home equity line of credit to pay his tax bill. (R. p. 1328; R. pp. 1003-05; R. p. 107, ln. 16-21; R. p. 256, ln. 6-14).

D. Wilson's Taxes & Draws

During 2011, and almost two and one-half years after steadily injecting capital into the company for start-up costs and Wilson's monthly draws, Gandis exercised his right to end steady capital infusions into CCC. (R. p. 101, ln. 7-19). Wilson claimed that he was not financially prepared to live off of distributions alone. He asked for the members to allow him to begin receiving company loans that could be off-set against future distributions, and Gandis agreed. (R. pp. 255-56). Unfortunately, CCC was already facing cash flow problems as the market turned sour. Gandis grew increasingly uncomfortable with the fact that Wilson had not remitted his tax distributions to the government and worried that this could negatively impact CCC.

In the spring of 2011, knowing what his own tax bill looked like, Gandis became concerned that Wilson may also be in a bind. (R. p. 410, ln. 13-18). Knowing that Shirley had significant experience when it came to reducing tax liabilities, he looked to her for help. (R. p. 228, ln. 18-23). All three members decided that they would meet to discuss the company's finances and their economic expectations. This was set to occur in late

March to early April 2011. As it turned out, Gandis could not make the meeting, but Wilson and Shirley went ahead without him.

In the time leading up to the members' meeting, Gandis and Shirley discussed Wilson's economic expectations, and whether he wouldn't be happier and financially safer as an employee. In one e-mail, Shirley notes the following:

He keeps wishing that cash would fall from the sky . . . but we have to BUILD the business to support additional cash. . . . I plan to explain to him that the role of an owner (even in an LLC) involves financing his business, mostly through deferred compensation. That an owner's eye is on the upside.

....

I would then propose to him that his actions (e.g. loans from company) seems to indicate that he would really rather be in a structure where he receives good monthly salary and he earns a regular bonus. This alternative structure gives him (a) more cash now and (b) preserves some of his participation [in] the financial results. It also means that he would convert to a situation where his tax obligation matches his cash flow....

....

If we are going to talk about what it means to be an owner, I think it is important that he not feel TRAPPED *by his LLC* and realize that . . . at this point in the game ... we can talk restructure of his participation in a way that should be a win-win.

(R. pp. 1035-36)(*emphasis added*).

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