THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JUN 20 2016

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2015-000476

David Wilson, individually and derivatively on behalf of Carolina Custom Converting, LLC,
Plaintiff,

v.

John Gandis, Andrea Comeau-Shirley, Zoi Films, LLC, and Carolina Custom Converting, LLC,
Defendants,

John Gandis and Andrea Comeau-Shirley, Third-Party Plaintiffs,

v.

Carolina Custom Converting, LLC, Third Party Defendant and Counterclaim Plaintiff,

v.

Dave Wilson, Steve Norvell, Neologic Distribution, Inc. and Fresh Water Systems, Inc.,

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

Appellants have consistently withheld financial information from Wilson, who remains a 45% owner of the company. There have been no tax returns filed for CCC since 2011 (R. p. 616, lines 14-19), and Shirley simply refused to provide any financials after 2013. (R. p. 718, lines 4-16). There's no dispute that Wilson has been denied financial information from the time of his ouster and had to seek the court to compel production of financials for his own company.

Additionally, Appellants not only failed to enforce contracts for the benefit of CCC, but instead actively revised contracts (particularly lease arrangements with Gandis) to retroactively increase the 2011 rent in an attempt to facilitate the transfer of assets from CCC to Gandis. (R. p. 424, line 24-p. 426, line 24; pages 1023-1024; p. 599, line 16-p. 600, line 2). Specifically, immediately after ousting Wilson in early 2012, rent more than doubled from \$2,500/month to \$6,000/month. (R. pages 1115-1119; page 170, line 24-p. 171, line 17); see *Kiriakides*, 343 S.C. at 605 n.28, 541 S.E.2d at 267 n.28 (“siphoning corporate profits”).

The self-dealing wasn't limited to just the lease arrangements and Deco-Tex. There was also Gandis' attempt to unload the “burden” of his building by including its purchase as a term of the buy/sell offer, which had the additional result of further squeezing Wilson into hunting for investors and potential buyers of CCC. Gandis also waited until after Wilson was expelled to give himself security interests in all the assets of CCC, while Shirley took the opportunity to back date \$50,000 worth of payables to her accounting firm. (R. p. 716, lines 3-9; p. 606, lines 13-14).

Id. at 595, 733 S.E.2d at 110-111. The *Ballard* emails quotes appear almost quaint and naïve compared to the gigabytes of emails containing blatantly laid plans to cause Wilson to panic, to “flip” Wilson from owner to employee, to force a forfeiture of his membership interest, and all to be done with a healthy dose of “[p]atience, grasshopper, patience....” (R. pages 1107-1109). According to Shirley, such things are as easy as baking a cake. (*Id.*)

Just as the trial court concluded, this is a classic case of a squeeze out; any other conclusion is simply not permitted by the record. But, despite the emails which laid out in embarrassing detail after detail, Appellants still took the stand and denied it all. Little wonder the judge cites Appellants' lack of credibility prominently in his order denying their motion to reconsider.

iv. Appellants' bad faith negotiations and ouster

Wilson's story needs no spoiler warning because we already know how it ends: the unlawful ouster of Wilson. However, the physical lock-out of Wilson from his office at CCC was preceded by a period of negotiations among the parties, including Appellants' bad faith offer on December 27, 2011 to purchase Wilson's interest at a greatly devalued amount. Appellants contend that the offer to purchase Wilson's interest was not oppressive since they were willing to accept the same offer. (App. Brief, p. 36). This is simply incorrect for several reasons. First, on the "Pro Forma Balance Sheet" attached to the emailed offer to Wilson, Shirley had added a \$100,000 "preference on units"; this wildly skewed balance sheet formed the basis for the bargaining to follow. (R. pages 1219-1225; p. 422, line 23-p. 423, line 18.; p. 156 line 11-p. 157, line 8). The "preference on units" had the dual effect of increasing CCC's liabilities by \$100,000 and thus reducing net asset value. However, because the debt was owed to her, Shirley would be able to recoup the devaluation through its repayment. (R. p. 156, lines 13-20, p. 157 lines 4-16, p. 158, lines 18-21.) All in all, the newest balance sheet had reduced Wilson's value by another \$70,000. (R. p. 423, lines 3-18).⁹

⁹ Dave Wilson testified: "And keep in mind that in August [2011], our books showed a net income of \$800,000...By the time this came along, our P&L showed negative \$40,000." (R. p. 424, lines 7-14.)

The second significant difference in the buy/sale option presented by Appellants was that any purchaser of CCC had to not only pay the inflated value of Gandis and Shirley's interest, but also had to assume the "burden of our building," as Shirley bluntly put it in yet another email directing the moves of Gandis. (R. p. 555, line 18-p. 556, line 8; pages 1103-1104). But the value for any investor or buyer was not the building, since the most serious investors were already in the film business and had their own buildings. Of course, once Wilson was ousted, Gandis still managed to shift all the burden to CCC by raising the rent from \$2,500/month to \$6,000/month.

Wilson presented expert testimony at trial that showed just how unfair Appellants' offers were. CPA Catherine Stoddard testified that, using Del Bradshaw's normalized financial numbers, she was able to more accurately calculate the actual value of CCC by adding into the mix the information regarding fair market value of CCC's equipment (obtained according to a certified appraisal).¹⁰ She then calculated CCC's net asset value to be \$1,018,753.00 as of December 2011, the last month prior to Wilson's ouster. (R. p. 770, line 25-p. 773 line 10; pages 1241-1280) Wilson's 45% interest was valued at \$408,335. Compare this number to the \$200,000 and forgiveness of the \$123,000 "loan" that constituted Appellants' December 2011 offer. (R. p. 154, line 21-p. 155, line 2). Accordingly, the terms of the restructure were themselves oppressive, especially when you consider that Appellants' offers to Wilson were contingent on him agreeing to a five-year non-compete in the only industry in which he had worked. (R. p. 421, line 23-p. 422, line 16).

When Wilson failed to capitulate to Appellants' oppressive terms, Gandis initiated the ouster strategy. He terminated Wilson's "employment" and declared him no longer a participant in the business Wilson still owned. (R. pages 1110-1112; R. p. 436, lines 6-22; p. 436, line 23-p.

¹⁰ The trial court specifically noted that it found Stoddard's testimony to be "credible." (R. p. 1782).

438, line 9). As noted previously, Gandis and Shirley had fully discussed their plans for terminating Wilson and claiming he resigned in multiple emails, and even when faced with these emails at trial that directly contradicted their testimony, they continued to deny such a plan ever took place. (R. p. 162, lines 16-18; pages 1110-1112). As planned (or, you could say, “as directed by Shirley”), Gandis had contacted law enforcement before firing Wilson and then changed the locks to prevent Wilson’s reentry. (R. p. 102, lines 7-10; pages 1110-1112). Ruthlessly, Gandis and Shirley then terminated Wilson’s family health insurance, which he received through the company. (R. p. 439, line 22-p. 440, line 24). Adding insult to injury, Wilson and his family’s cell phone service was shut off without warning. (R. p. 439, lines 7-21). Wilson would never return to his office or to the CCC plant, and he would have to sue to get any financial information about his own company, information that was ultimately altered before being produced.

But at least as Wilson was leaving his CCC office for the last time on that cold January day in 2011, struggling to carry whatever personal possessions he could frantically grab on his way out, and as his cell phone was simultaneously shut off so that he couldn’t even call his wife and let her know what had just happened, and as he hoped to God that none of his family got sick or hurt any time soon because his health insurance had just been cut off, at least Wilson could still take some measure of comfort from Gandis and Shirley’s assurances that he “was not [being] oppressed,” nor was he being “frozen-out.” (App. Brief, p. 29). In fact, Gandis and Shirley assured him, their action were simply “business decisions,” made necessary by “consideration of real world business factors.” (App. Brief, p. 35). Besides, Gandis and Shirley added, Mr. Wilson “was in control of his destiny and CCC,” and therefore oppression was impossible. (*Id.* at 36).

v. ***Appellants' Claim: "Wilson took all the good out of CCC."***

Ignoring the ample irony of this statement, it is enough simply to state that Appellants' assertion is untrue to the extent that Appellants claim that "Wilson ultimately made off with all the good aspects/assets of CCC – namely its stock of customers and prospective business." (App. Brief, p. 38). Of course, the statement comes without any citation to the record, and for good reason: there are no facts in the Record to support such an outlandish assertion. Wilson needed to provide for his family, and he did so by making contact with his industry contacts developed during his twenty years in the industry. (R. p. 505, lines 13-16). To the extent that any additional factual information is needed, Respondent incorporates by reference pages 8-11 of Respondent Wilson's Brief on Trade Secrets in the sister appeal initiated by CCC and notes that after his ouster, without a non-compete and with no fiduciary duties owed to CCC as a mere member of a manager-managed LLC, Wilson had every legal right to compete while he waited on the payment of his interest as of the day he was ousted.

B. The Trial Court Applied the Correct Legal Standard in Finding that Wilson, a Member in a Manager-Managed LLC, Did Not Breach his Fiduciary Duties to Gandis and Shirley.

1. Standard of Review

An action for breach of fiduciary duty is one at law. *See Verenes v. Alvamos*, 387 S.C. 11, 690 S.E.2d 771 (2010). "In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings." *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

2. Duties of a member in a manager-managed LLC

The LLC statute makes clear that Wilson owes no fiduciary duty simply by being a member in a manager-managed LLC. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-409(h) (2014). Yet Appellants initiate their attack on the trial court's order by asserting that "the lower court made a fundamental legal error and applied an incorrect legal standard of disclosure for fiduciary duty." (App. Brief, Page 19). Appellants proceed to argue that the law of partnerships and **member-**managed LLCs apply to the legal analysis of Wilson and Gandis' relationship. Appellants then cite nearly two pages of case law for the fiduciary duty in partnerships, followed by a page long quotation of the LLC statute pertaining to **member-**managed LLCs.

Yet Gandis and Wilson were not organized as a member-managed LLC in November 2007—they were a **manager-**managed LLC with Gandis as the sole manager. (R. p. 38, lines 8-19; p. 1194). Such an arrangement involves different duties for Wilson than those outlined in Appellants' Brief, page 20. For **manager-**managed LLCs, the South Carolina Limited Liability Act provides the following:

(h) In a manager-managed company:

(1) a member who is not also a manager owes **no duties** to the company or to the other members solely by reason of being a member.

S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-409(h) (2014) (emphasis added). In short, Wilson owed no special duty to the LLC or Appellants simply by being a member of CCC, and upon being ousted, he was nothing more than a member of a manager-managed LLC. Appellants' repeated and inapplicable citations to the statute for members in member-managed LLCs and to partnerships, neither of which apply to Wilson's status as a member in a manager-managed LLC, while lengthy, do nothing to advance their argument and should be disregarded.

Appellants attack two bases of the trial court's finding that Gandis and Shirley failed to prove their claim for breach of fiduciary duty: (1) that "the evidence did not establish that Wilson had agreed to transfer the three import accounts to CCC in 2008"; and (2) that Gandis and Shirley failed to conduct a reasonable inquiry in 2009 about the full extent of EFS's activities with the three import accounts, despite having full knowledge about, at the very least, the West Carrollton deal. (R. pages 1783-1784).

The evidence presented at trial supports the trial court's determination that Wilson and Gandis had agreed that three accounts were not to be rolled into CCC because of pre-existing commitments to funding sources and partners in the deals. Wilson testified that he and Gandis had reached an agreement about what part of EFS Wilson would be merging into CCC immediately, and he stated at trial that he and Gandis agreed that three accounts would not be rolled into CCC, a fact which Gandis also contemporaneously acknowledged in an email to Shirley. (R. p. 378, line 17-p. 379, line 22; *see also* R. p. 380, lines 13-16; p. 1681: "minus the three"). The court further made a specific finding that Wilson and Gandis entered into oral agreements that these three accounts would remain separate from CCC. (R. p. 1774).

As late as 2010, Shirley herself acknowledged in emails that Wilson continued to wind-down the business for EFS in 2009. (R. pages 1009-1012; p. 547, line 20-p. 548, line 16). Despite this email evidence, Gandis testified that he knew nothing of these accounts and that he learned of them only by accident (R. p. 211, lines 18-22; p. 216, lines 14-18; p. 217, lines 20-22), but Gandis' testimony on this issue was deemed by the trial judge to be without credibility, leaving Wilson's testimony standing alone as the only credible presentation of what actually occurred. Importantly, Wilson's testimony is corroborated by Appellants' own emails.

3. *Gandis and Shirley's awareness of EFS's activities in 2008 and 2009*

The trial court found that Appellants were well aware of Wilson's EFS transactions with these accounts in 2008 and 2009. (R. p. 1783; *see* p. 378, line 17-p. 379, line 22; p. 380, lines 13-16; p. 1681: "minus the three"). First of all, if Gandis and Wilson agreed that the three accounts were to be held by EFS separate from CCC, then Appellants' argument that the court applied the wrong duty of reasonable inquiry to Gandis is moot. Second, the court found that Appellants' awareness dated back to 2008, more than four years before the initiation of Wilson's lawsuit. Shirley and Gandis failed to initial legal action within the three year statute of limitations, and therefore their failure to act timely on this knowledge bars their action from proceeding.

4. *Gandis' Fiduciary Duties to Wilson and CCC*

A manager (like Gandis) in a manager-managed LLC (like CCC), however, does owe all the fiduciary duties to the LLC and the members that is extensively recounted in Appellants' Brief and as outlined in S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-409(b)-(f). *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-409(h)(2) ("[A] manager is held to the same standards of conduct prescribed for members in subsections (b) through (f)"). As will be argued more extensively in the section on shareholder oppression below, the factfinder in this case found that Gandis and Shirley engaged in a litany of unfair and oppressive conduct that hardly conforms to the fiduciary duties owed by Gandis to the LLC members. (*See* R. pages 1777-1778).

In essence, Appellants purport to place upon Wilson the fiduciary duty standards of a manager and then proceed to argue that he fails to meet this duty, all the while ignoring that Gandis is the one person in this litigation that is actually obligated under those standards and who was found to have engaged in such un-fiduciary-duty-like behavior that was described by the trial court as a "tightly controlled cabal" engaged in "unconscionable" conduct yet defended

with testimony that entirely “lacked credibility.” While a brazen strategy, the evidence presented at trial simply fails to support Appellants’ arguments on this point.

5. *Wilson’s Activity After Being Unlawfully Expelled from CCC in January 2012*

Respondent Wilson has addressed in detail his activities following his unlawful ouster from CCC in Respondent Wilson’s Initial Brief on Trade Secrets, filed February 22, 2016, which Wilson hereby incorporates by reference in its entirety.

Additionally, the trial court made no finding that Wilson took any confidential information with him upon his ouster in January 2012, nor that Wilson provided this information to Neologic/Freshwater, as claimed by Appellants in their Brief (yet without citation to the Record). (Appellants’ Brief, p. 26).

6. *Gandis and Shirley lack standing to appeal the trial court’s ruling on the breach of fiduciary duty claim against Wilson for usurpation of corporate opportunities because that claim belongs solely to CCC.*

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